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claims’’), or by negotiating an instru-
ment that is conditionally tendered to 
the TSP with an offer of compromise. 

(b) TSP Payment Address. The TSP 
has established an address for the re-
ceipt of specified TSP payments. The 
TSP will not answer correspondence 
mailed to that payment address. 

[70 FR 32218, June 1, 2005] 

§ 1690.15 Freezing an account—admin-
istrative holds. 

(a) The TSP may freeze (e.g., place an 
administrative hold on) a participant’s 
account for any of the following rea-
sons: 

(1) Pursuant to a qualifying retire-
ment benefits court order as set forth 
in part 1653 of this chapter; 

(2) Pursuant to a request from the 
Department of Justice under the Man-
datory Victims Restitution Act; 

(3) Upon the death of a participant; 
(4) Upon suspicion or knowledge of 

fraudulent account activity or identity 
theft; 

(5) In response to litigation per-
taining to an account; 

(6) For operational reasons (e.g., to 
correct a processing error or to stop 

payment on a check when account 
funds are insufficient); 

(7) Pursuant to a written request 
from a participant; and 

(8) For any other reason the TSP 
deems prudent. 

(b) An account freeze (i.e., adminis-
trative hold) prohibits a participant 
from withdrawing funds, including 
loans, from his or her account. The 
participant continues to have the capa-
bility to conduct all other transactions 
including making contributions, 
changing contribution allocations, and 
making interfund transfers. 

(c) The Agency will notify the partic-
ipant that his or her account has been 
frozen unless it determines it prudent 
to not notify the participant that his 
of her account has been frozen. 

(d) A participant may block on-line 
and ThriftLine access to his or her ac-
count by writing to the TSP or by sub-
mitting a request at http://www.tsp.gov. 

(e) A participant may remove a par-
ticipant-initiated freeze (administra-
tive hold) by submitting a notarized re-
quest to the TSP. 

[74 FR 63063, Dec. 2, 2009] 
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PART 1800—FILING OF 
COMPLAINTS AND ALLEGATIONS 

Sec. 
1800.1 Filing complaints of prohibited per-

sonnel practices or other prohibited ac-
tivities. 

1800.2 Filing disclosures of information. 
1800.3 Advisory opinions. 

AUTHORITY: 5 U.S.C. 1212(e). 

§ 1800.1 Filing complaints of prohib-
ited personnel practices or other 
prohibited activities. 

(a) Prohibited personnel practices. The 
Office of Special Counsel (OSC) has in-
vestigative jurisdiction over the fol-
lowing prohibited personnel practices 
committed against current or former 
Federal employees and applicants for 
Federal employment: 

(1) Discrimination, including dis-
crimination based on marital status or 
political affiliation (see § 1810.1 of this 
chapter for information about OSC’s 
deferral policy); 

(2) Soliciting or considering improper 
recommendations or statements about 
individuals requesting, or under consid-
eration for, personnel actions; 

(3) Coercing political activity, or en-
gaging in reprisal for refusal to engage 
in political activity; 

(4) Deceiving or obstructing anyone 
with respect to competition for em-
ployment; 

(5) Influencing anyone to withdraw 
from competition to improve or injure 
the employment prospects of another; 

(6) Granting an unauthorized pref-
erence or advantage to improve or in-
jure the employment prospects of an-
other; 

(7) Nepotism; 
(8) Reprisal for whistleblowing (whis-

tleblowing is generally defined as the 
disclosure of information about a Fed-
eral agency by an employee or appli-
cant who reasonably believes that the 
information shows a violation of any 
law, rule, or regulation; gross mis-
management; gross waste of funds; 
abuse of authority; or a substantial 
and specific danger to public health or 
safety); 

(9) Reprisal for: 
(i) Exercising certain appeal rights; 

(ii) Providing testimony or other as-
sistance to persons exercising appeal 
rights; 

(iii) Cooperating with the Special 
Counsel or an Inspector General; or 

(iv) Refusing to obey an order that 
would require the violation of law; 

(10) Discrimination based on personal 
conduct not adverse to job perform-
ance; 

(11) Violation of a veterans’ pref-
erence requirement; and 

(12) Taking or failing to take a per-
sonnel action in violation of any law, 
rule, or regulation implementing or di-
rectly concerning merit system prin-
ciples at 5 U.S.C. 2301(b). 

(b) Other prohibited activities. OSC 
also has investigative jurisdiction over 
allegations of the following prohibited 
activities: 

(1) Violation of the Federal Hatch 
Act at title 5 of the U.S. Code, chapter 
73, subchapter III; 

(2) Violation of the state and local 
Hatch Act at title 5 of the U.S. Code, 
chapter 15; 

(3) Arbitrary and capricious with-
holding of information prohibited 
under the Freedom of Information Act 
at 5 U.S.C. 552 (except for certain for-
eign and counterintelligence informa-
tion); 

(4) Activities prohibited by any civil 
service law, rule, or regulation, includ-
ing any activity relating to political 
intrusion in personnel decisionmaking; 

(5) Involvement by any employee in 
any prohibited discrimination found by 
any court or appropriate administra-
tive authority to have occurred in the 
course of any personnel action (unless 
the Special Counsel determines that 
the allegation may be resolved more 
appropriately under an administrative 
appeals procedure); and 

(6) Violation of uniformed services 
employment and reemployment rights 
under 38 U.S.C. 4301, et seq. 

(c) Procedures for filing complaints al-
leging prohibited personnel practices or 
other prohibited activities (other than the 
Hatch Act). (1) Current or former Fed-
eral employees, and applicants for Fed-
eral employment, may file a complaint 
with OSC alleging one or more prohib-
ited personnel practices, or other pro-
hibited activities within OSC’s inves-
tigative jurisdiction. Form OSC–11 
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(‘‘Complaint of Possible Prohibited 
Personnel Practice or Other Prohibited 
Activity’’) must be used to file all such 
complaints (except those limited to an 
allegation or allegations of a Hatch 
Act violation - see paragraph (d) of this 
section for information on filing Hatch 
Act complaints). 

(2) Part 2 of Form OSC–11 must be 
completed in connection with allega-
tions of reprisal for whistleblowing, in-
cluding identification of: 

(i) Each disclosure involved; 
(ii) The date of each disclosure; 
(iii) The person to whom each disclo-

sure was made; and 
(iv) The type and date of any per-

sonnel action that occurred because of 
each disclosure. 

(3) Except for complaints limited to 
alleged violation(s) of the Hatch Act, 
OSC will not process a complaint filed 
in any format other than a completed 
Form OSC–11. If a filer does not use 
Form OSC–11 to submit a complaint, 
OSC will provide the filer with infor-
mation about the form. The complaint 
will be considered to be filed on the 
date on which OSC receives a com-
pleted Form OSC–11. 

(4) Form OSC–11 is available: 
(i) By writing to OSC, at: Office of 

Special Counsel, Complaints Exam-
ining Unit, 1730 M Street NW., Suite 
218, Washington, DC 20036–4505; 

(ii) By calling OSC, at: (800) 872–9855 
(toll-free), or (202) 653–7188 (in the 
Washington, DC area); or 

(iii) Online, at: http://www.osc.gov (to 
print out and complete on paper, or to 
complete online). 

(5) A complainant can file a com-
pleted Form OSC–11 with OSC by any 
of the following methods: 

(i) By mail, to: Office of Special 
Counsel, Complaints Examining Unit, 
1730 M Street NW., Suite 218, Wash-
ington, DC 20036–4505; 

(ii) By fax, to: (202) 653–5151; or 
(iii) Electronically, at: http:// 

www.osc.gov. 
(d) Procedures for filing complaints al-

leging violation of the Hatch Act. (1) 
Complaints alleging a violation of the 
Hatch Act may be submitted in any 
written form, but should include: 

(i) The complainant’s name, mailing 
address, telephone number, and a time 
when OSC can contact that person 

about his or her complaint (unless the 
matter is submitted anonymously); 

(ii) The department or agency, loca-
tion, and organizational unit com-
plained of; and 

(iii) A concise description of the ac-
tions complained about, names and po-
sitions of employees who took the ac-
tions, if known to the complainant, 
and dates of the actions, preferably in 
chronological order, together with any 
documentary evidence that the com-
plainant can provide. 

(2) A written Hatch Act complaint 
can be filed with OSC by any of the 
methods listed in paragraph (c)(5)(i)– 
(iii) of this section. 

[68 FR 66695, Nov. 28, 2003] 

§ 1800.2 Filing disclosures of informa-
tion. 

(a) General. OSC is authorized by law 
(at 5 U.S.C. 1213) to provide an inde-
pendent and secure channel for use by 
current or former Federal employees 
and applicants for Federal employment 
in disclosing information that they 
reasonably believe shows wrongdoing 
by a Federal agency. OSC must deter-
mine whether there is a substantial 
likelihood that the information dis-
closes a violation of any law, rule, or 
regulation; gross mismanagement; 
gross waste of funds; abuse of author-
ity; or a substantial and specific dan-
ger to public health or safety. If it 
does, the law requires OSC to refer the 
information to the agency head in-
volved for investigation and a written 
report on the findings to the Special 
Counsel. The law does not authorize 
OSC to investigate the subject of a dis-
closure. 

(b) Procedures for filing disclosures. 
Current or former Federal employees, 
and applicants for Federal employ-
ment, may file a disclosure of the type 
of information described in paragraph 
(a) of this section with OSC. Such dis-
closures must be filed in writing (in-
cluding electronically - see paragraph 
(b)(3)(iii) of this section). 

(1) Filers are encouraged to use Form 
OSC–12 (‘‘Disclosure of Information’’) 
to file a disclosure of the type of infor-
mation described in paragraph (a) of 
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this section with OSC. This form pro-
vides more information about OSC ju-
risdiction, and procedures for proc-
essing whistleblower disclosures. Form 
OSC–12 is available: 

(i) By writing to OSC, at: Office of 
Special Counsel, Disclosure Unit, 1730 
M Street NW., Suite 218, Washington, 
DC 20036–4505; 

(ii) By calling OSC, at: (800) 572–2249 
(toll-free), or (202) 653–9125 (in the 
Washington, DC area); or 

(iii) Online, at: http://www.osc.gov (to 
print out and complete on paper, or to 
complete online). 

(2) Filers may use another written 
format to submit a disclosure to OSC, 
but the submission should include: 

(i) The name, mailing address, and 
telephone number(s) of the person(s) 
making the disclosure(s), and a time 
when OSC can contact that person 
about his or her disclosure; 

(ii) The department or agency, loca-
tion and organizational unit com-
plained of; and 

(iii) A statement as to whether the 
filer consents to disclosure of his or her 
identity by OSC to the agency in-
volved, in connection with any OSC re-
ferral to that agency. 

(3) A disclosure can be filed in writ-
ing with OSC by any of the following 
methods: 

(i) By mail, to: Office of Special 
Counsel, Disclosure Unit, 1730 M Street 
NW., Suite 218, Washington, DC 20036– 
4505; 

(ii) By fax, to: (202) 653–5151; or 
(iii) Electronically, at: http:// 

www.osc.gov. 

[68 FR 66696, Nov. 28, 2003] 

§ 1800.3 Advisory opinions. 
The Special Counsel is authorized to 

issue advisory opinions only about po-
litical activity of state or local officers 
and employees (under title 5 of the 
United States Code, at chapter 15), and 
political activity of Federal officers 
and employees (under title 5 of the 
United States Code, at chapter 73, sub-
chapter III). A person can seek an advi-
sory opinion from OSC by any of the 
following methods: 

(a) By phone, at: (800) 854–2824 (toll- 
free), or (202) 653–7143 (in the Wash-
ington, DC area); 

(b) By mail, to: Office of Special 
Counsel, Hatch Act Unit, 1730 M Street 
NW., Suite 218, Washington, DC 20036– 
4505; 

(c) By fax, to: (202) 653–5151; or 
(d) By e-mail, to: hatchact@osc.gov. 

[68 FR 66697, Nov. 28, 2003] 

PART 1810—INVESTIGATIVE AU-
THORITY OF THE SPECIAL COUN-
SEL 

AUTHORITY: 5 U.S.C. 1212(e). 

§ 1810.1 Investigative policy in dis-
crimination complaints. 

The Special Counsel is authorized to 
investigate allegations of discrimina-
tion prohibited by law, as defined in 5 
U.S.C. 2302(b)(1). Since procedures for 
investigating discrimination com-
plaints have already been established 
in the agencies and the Equal Employ-
ment Opportunity Commission, the 
Special Counsel will normally avoid 
duplicating those procedures and will 
defer to those procedures rather than 
initiating an independent investiga-
tion. 

[54 FR 47342, Nov. 14, 1989] 

PART 1820—FREEDOM OF INFOR-
MATION ACT REQUESTS; PRO-
DUCTION OF RECORDS OR TESTI-
MONY 

Sec. 
1820.1 General provisions. 
1820.2 Requirements for making FOIA re-

quests. 
1820.3 Consultations and referrals. 
1820.4 Timing of responses to requests. 
1820.5 Responses to requests. 
1820.6 Appeals. 
1820.7 Fees. 
1820.8 Business information. 
1820.9 Other rights and services. 
1820.10 Production of official records or tes-

timony in legal proceedings. 

AUTHORITY: 5 U.S.C. 552 and 1212(e); Execu-
tive Order No. 12600, 52 FR 23781, 3 CFR, 1987 
Comp., p. 235. 

SOURCE: 72 FR 40711, July 25, 2007, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 1820.1 General provisions. 
This part contains rules and proce-

dures followed by the Office of Special 

VerDate Mar<15>2010 14:52 Mar 11, 2013 Jkt 229010 PO 00000 Frm 00329 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\229010.XXX 229010er
ow

e 
on

 D
S

K
2V

P
T

V
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 C
F

R



318 

5 CFR Ch. VIII (1–1–13 Edition) § 1820.2 

Counsel (OSC) in processing requests 
for records under the Freedom of Infor-
mation Act (FOIA), as amended, at 5 
U.S.C. 552. These rules and procedures 
should be read together with the FOIA, 
which provides additional information 
about access to agency records. Fur-
ther information about the FOIA and 
access to OSC records is available on 
the FOIA page of OSC’s Web site (http:// 
www.osc.gov/foia.htm). Information rou-
tinely provided to the public as part of 
a regular OSC activity—for example, 
forms, press releases issued by the pub-
lic affairs officer, records published on 
the agency’s Web site (http:// 
www.osc.gov), or public lists main-
tained at OSC headquarters offices pur-
suant to 5 U.S.C. 1219—may be re-
quested and provided to the public 
without following this part. This part 
also addresses responses to demands by 
a court or other authority to an em-
ployee for production of official records 
or testimony in legal proceedings. 

§ 1820.2 Requirements for making 
FOIA requests. 

(a) How made and addressed. A request 
for OSC records under the FOIA should 
be made by writing to the agency. The 
request should be sent by regular mail 
addressed to: FOIA Officer, U.S. Office 
of Special Counsel, 1730 M Street, N.W. 
(Suite 218), Washington, DC 20036–4505. 
Such requests may also be faxed to the 
FOIA Officer at the number provided 
on the FOIA page of OSC’s web site (see 
§ 1820.1). For the quickest handling, 
both the request letter and envelope or 
any fax cover sheet should be clearly 
marked ‘‘FOIA Request.’’ Whether sent 
by mail or by fax, a FOIA request will 
not be considered to have been received 
by OSC until it reaches the FOIA Offi-
cer. 

(b) Description of records sought. Re-
questers must describe the records 
sought in enough detail for them to be 
located with a reasonable amount of ef-
fort. When requesting records about an 
OSC case file, the case file number, 
name, and type (for example, prohib-
ited personnel practice, Hatch Act, 
USERRA or other complaint; Hatch 
Act advisory opinion; or whistleblower 
disclosure) should be provided, if 
known. Whenever possible, requests 
should describe any particular record 

sought, such as the date, title or name, 
author, recipient, and subject matter. 

(c) Agreement to pay fees. Making a 
FOIA request shall be considered an 
agreement by the requester to pay all 
applicable fees chargeable under 
§ 1820.7, up to and including the amount 
of $25.00, unless the requester asks for a 
waiver of fees. When making a request, 
a requester may specify a willingness 
to pay a greater or lesser amount. 

§ 1820.3 Consultations and referrals. 

When OSC receives a FOIA request 
for a record in the agency’s possession, 
it may determine that another Federal 
agency is better able to decide whether 
or not the record is exempt from dis-
closure under the FOIA. If so, OSC will 
either: 

(a) Respond to the request for the 
record after consulting with the other 
agency and with any other agency that 
has a substantial interest in the 
record; or 

(b) Refer the responsibility for re-
sponding to the request to the other 
agency deemed better able to deter-
mine whether to disclose it. Consulta-
tions and referrals will be handled ac-
cording to the date that the FOIA re-
quest was initially received by the first 
agency. 

§ 1820.4 Timing of responses to re-
quests. 

(a) In general.OSC ordinarily will re-
spond to FOIA requests according to 
their order of receipt. In determining 
which records are responsive to a re-
quest, OSC ordinarily will include only 
records in its possession as of the date 
on which it begins its search for them. 
If any other date is used, OSC will in-
form the requester of that date. 

(b) Multitrack processing. (1) OSC may 
use two or more processing tracks by 
distinguishing between simple and 
more complex requests based on the 
amount of work and/or time needed to 
process the request. 

(2) When using multitrack proc-
essing, OSC may provide requesters in 
its slower track(s) with an opportunity 
to limit the scope of their requests in 
order to qualify for faster processing 
within the specified limits of the faster 
track(s). 
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(c) Expedited processing. (1) Requests 
and appeals will be taken out of order 
and given expedited treatment when-
ever OSC has established to its satis-
faction that: 

(i) Failure to obtain requested 
records on an expedited basis could rea-
sonably be expected to pose an immi-
nent threat to the life or physical safe-
ty of an individual; 

(ii) With respect to a request made by 
a person primarily engaged in dissemi-
nating information, an urgency exists 
to inform the public about an actual or 
alleged federal government activity; or 

(iii) Records requested relate to an 
appeal that is pending before, or that 
the requester faces an imminent dead-
line for filing with, the Merit Systems 
Protection Board or other administra-
tive tribunal or a court of law, seeking 
personal relief pursuant to a complaint 
filed by the requester with OSC, or re-
ferred to OSC pursuant to title 38 of 
the U.S. Code. 

(2) A request for expedited processing 
must be made in writing and sent to 
OSC’s FOIA Officer. Such a request will 
not be considered to have been received 
until it reaches the FOIA Officer. 

(3) A requester who seeks expedited 
processing must submit a statement, 
certified to be true and correct to the 
best of that person’s knowledge and be-
lief, explaining in detail the basis for 
requesting expedited processing. For 
example, a requester within the cat-
egory described in paragraph (c)(1)(ii) 
of this section, if not a full-time mem-
ber of the news media, must establish 
that he or she is a person whose main 
professional activity or occupation is 
information dissemination, though it 
need not be his or her sole occupation. 
The formality of certification may be 
waived as a matter of OSC’s adminis-
trative discretion. 

(4) OSC shall decide whether to grant 
a request for expedited processing and 
notify the requester of its decision 
within 10 calendar days of the FOIA Of-
ficer’s receipt of the request. If the re-
quest for expedited processing is grant-
ed, the request for records shall be 
processed as soon as practicable. If a 
request for expedited processing is de-
nied, any administrative appeal of that 
decision shall be acted on expedi-
tiously. 

(d) Aggregated requests. OSC may ag-
gregate multiple requests by the same 
requester, or by a group of requesters 
acting in concert, if it reasonably be-
lieves that such requests actually con-
stitute a single request involving un-
usual circumstances, as defined by the 
FOIA, supporting an extension of time 
to respond, and the requests involve 
clearly related matters. 

§ 1820.5 Responses to requests. 
(a) General. Ordinarily, OSC shall 

have 20 business days from when a re-
quest is received to determine whether 
to grant or deny the request. Once OSC 
makes a determination to grant a 
FOIA request for records, or makes an 
adverse determination denying a re-
quest in any respect, it will notify the 
requester in writing. Adverse deter-
minations, or denials of requests, con-
sist of: A determination to withhold 
any requested record in whole or in 
part; a determination that a requested 
record does not exist or cannot be lo-
cated; a determination that a record is 
not readily reproducible in the form or 
format sought by the requester; a de-
termination that what has been re-
quested is not a record subject to the 
FOIA; a determination on any disputed 
fee matter, including a denial of a re-
quest for a fee waiver; and a denial of 
a request for expedited treatment. 

(b) Adverse determinations. A notifica-
tion to a requester of an adverse deter-
mination on a request shall include: 

(1) A brief statement of the reason(s) 
for the denial of the request, including 
any FOIA exemption applied by OSC in 
denying the request; and 

(2) A statement that the denial may 
be appealed under section 1820.6(a), 
with a description of the requirements 
of that subsection. 

§ 1820.6 Appeals. 
(a) Appeals of adverse determinations. 

A requester may appeal an adverse de-
termination denying a FOIA request in 
any respect to the Legal Counsel and 
Policy Division, U.S. Office of Special 
Counsel, 1730 M Street, NW., (Suite 
218), Washington, DC 20036–4505. The ap-
peal must be in writing, and sent by 
regular mail or by fax. The appeal 
must be received by the Legal Counsel 
and Policy Division within 45 days of 
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the date of the letter denying the re-
quest. For the quickest possible han-
dling, the appeal letter and envelope or 
any fax cover sheet should be clearly 
marked ‘‘FOIA Appeal.’’ The appeal 
letter may include as much or as little 
related information as the requester 
wishes, as long as it clearly identifies 
the OSC determination (including the 
assigned FOIA request number, if 
known) being appealed. An appeal ordi-
narily will not be acted on if the re-
quest becomes a matter of FOIA litiga-
tion. 

(b) Responses to appeals. The agency 
decision on an appeal will be made in 
writing. A decision affirming an ad-
verse determination in whole or in part 
shall inform the requester of the provi-
sions for judicial review of that deci-
sion. If the adverse determination is re-
versed or modified on appeal, in whole 
or in part, the requester will be noti-
fied in a written decision and the re-
quest will be reprocessed in accordance 
with that appeal decision. 

§ 1820.7 Fees. 
(a) In general. OSC shall charge for 

processing requests under the FOIA in 
accordance with paragraph (c) of this 
section, except where fees are limited 
under paragraph (d) of this section or 
where a waiver or reduction of fees is 
granted under paragraph (k) of this 
section. OSC may collect all applicable 
fees before sending copies of requested 
records to a requester. Requesters 
must pay fees by check or money order 
made payable to the Treasury of the 
United States. 

(b) Definitions. For purposes of this 
section: 

(1) ‘‘‘Commercial use’ request’’ means 
a request from or on behalf of a person 
who seeks information for a use or pur-
pose that furthers his or her commer-
cial, trade, or profit interests, which 
can include furthering those interests 
through litigation. OSC shall deter-
mine, whenever reasonably possible, 
the use to which a requester will put 
the requested records. When it appears 
that the requester will put the records 
to a commercial use, either because of 
the nature of the request itself or be-
cause OSC has reasonable cause to 
doubt a requester’s stated use, OSC 
shall provide the requester with a rea-

sonable opportunity to submit further 
clarification. 

(2) ‘‘Direct costs’’ means those ex-
penses that OSC incurs in searching for 
and duplicating (and, in the case of 
commercial use requests, reviewing) 
records to respond to a FOIA request. 
Direct costs include, for example, the 
salary of the employee performing the 
work (the basic rate of pay for the em-
ployee plus 16 percent of that rate to 
cover benefits) and the cost of oper-
ating duplicating equipment. Direct 
costs do not include overhead expenses 
such as the costs of space, and heating 
or lighting the facility in which the 
records are kept. 

(3) ‘‘Duplication’’ means the process 
of making of a copy of a record, or of 
the information contained in it, nec-
essary to respond to a FOIA request. 
Copies can take the form of paper, 
microform, audiovisual materials, or 
electronic records (for example, on dig-
ital data storage discs), among others. 

(4) ‘‘Educational institution’’ means 
a preschool, a public or private elemen-
tary or secondary school, an institu-
tion of undergraduate higher edu-
cation, an institution of graduate high-
er education, an institution of profes-
sional education, or an institution of 
vocational education, that operates a 
program of scholarly research. To be in 
this category, a requester must show 
that the request is authorized by and is 
made under the auspices of a qualifying 
institution and that the records are not 
sought for a commercial use but are 
sought to further scholarly research. 

(5) ‘‘Non-commercial scientific insti-
tution’’ means an institution that is 
not operated on a ‘‘commercial’’ basis, 
as that term is referenced in paragraph 
(b)(1) of this section, and that is oper-
ated solely for the purpose of con-
ducting scientific research the results 
of which are not intended to promote 
any particular product or industry. To 
be in this category, a requester must 
show that the request is authorized by 
and is made under the auspices of a 
qualifying institution and that the 
records are not sought for a commer-
cial use but are sought to further sci-
entific research. 

(6) ‘‘Representative of the news 
media’’ or ‘‘news media requester’’ 
means any person actively gathering 
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news for an entity that is organized 
and operated to publish or broadcast 
news to the public. The term ‘‘news’’ 
means information that is about cur-
rent events or that would be of current 
interest to the public. Examples of 
news media entities include television 
or radio stations broadcasting to the 
public at large and publishers of peri-
odicals (but only in those instances 
where they can qualify as dissemina-
tors of ‘‘news’’) who make their prod-
ucts available for purchase or subscrip-
tion by the general public. For ‘‘free-
lance’’ journalists to be regarded as 
working for a news organization, they 
must demonstrate a solid basis for ex-
pecting publication through that orga-
nization. A publication contract would 
be the clearest proof, but OSC may also 
look to the past publication record of a 
requester in making this determina-
tion. To be in this category, a re-
quester must not be seeking the re-
quested records for a commercial use. 
However, a request for records sup-
porting the news-dissemination func-
tion of the requester shall not be con-
sidered to be for a commercial use. 

(7) ‘‘Review’’ means the process of ex-
amining a record located in response to 
a request in order to determine wheth-
er any portion of the record is exempt 
from disclosure. It includes processing 
any record for disclosure—for example, 
doing all that is necessary to redact it 
and otherwise prepare it for disclosure. 
Review time also includes time spent 
obtaining and considering any formal 
objection to disclosure made by a busi-
ness submitter under § 1820.8(f). It does 
not include time spent resolving gen-
eral legal or policy issues about the ap-
plication of exemptions. Review costs 
are properly charged in connection 
with commercial use requests even if a 
record ultimately is not disclosed. 

(8) ‘‘Search’’ means the process of 
looking for and retrieving records or 
information responsive to a request. It 
includes page-by-page or line-by-line 
identification of information within 
records when undertaken, and reason-
able efforts to locate and retrieve in-
formation from records maintained in 
electronic form or format, to the ex-
tent that such efforts would not sig-
nificantly interfere with the operation 
of an automatic information system. 

(c) Fees. In responding to FOIA re-
quests, OSC shall charge the following 
fees unless a waiver or reduction of fees 
has been granted under paragraph (k) 
of this section: 

(1) Search. (i) Search fees will be 
charged for all requests—other than re-
quests made by educational institu-
tions, noncommercial scientific insti-
tutions, or representatives of the news 
media—subject to the limitations of 
paragraph (d) of this section. OSC may 
charge for time spent searching even if 
it fails to locate responsive records, or 
records located after a search are de-
termined to be exempt from disclosure. 

(ii) For each quarter hour spent by 
clerical personnel in searching for and 
retrieving a requested record, the fee 
will be $5.50. Where a search and re-
trieval cannot be performed entirely by 
clerical personnel - for example, where 
the identification of records within the 
scope of a request requires the use of 
professional personnel - the fee will be 
$9.00 for each quarter hour of search 
time spent by professional personnel. 
Where the time of managerial per-
sonnel is required, the fee will be $17.50 
for each quarter hour of time spent by 
those personnel. 

(iii) For electronic searches of 
records, requesters will be charged the 
direct costs of conducting the search, 
including the costs of operator/pro-
grammer staff time apportionable to 
the search. 

(iv) For requests requiring the re-
trieval of records from any Federal 
Records Center, additional costs may 
be charged in accordance with the ap-
plicable billing schedule established by 
the National Archives and Records Ad-
ministration. 

(2) Duplication. Duplication fees will 
be charged to all requesters, subject to 
the limitations of paragraph (d) of this 
section. For a standard paper photo-
copy of a record (no more than one 
copy of which need be supplied), the fee 
will be 25 cents per page. For copies 
produced by computer, such as discs or 
printouts, OSC will charge the direct 
costs, including staff time, of pro-
ducing the copy. For other forms of du-
plication, OSC will charge the direct 
costs of that duplication. 
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(3) Review. Review fees will be 
charged to requesters who make a com-
mercial use request. Review fees will 
be charged for only initial record re-
view - in other words, the review done 
when OSC analyzes whether an exemp-
tion applies to a particular record or 
record portion at the initial request 
level. No charge will be made for re-
view at the administrative appeal level 
for an exemption already applied. How-
ever, records or record portions with-
held under an exemption that is subse-
quently determined not to apply may 
be reviewed again to determine wheth-
er any other exemption not previously 
considered applies; the costs of that re-
view are chargeable where it is made 
necessary by such a change of cir-
cumstances. Review fees will be 
charged at the same rates as those 
charged for a search under paragraph 
(c)(1)(ii) of this section. 

(d) Limitations on charging fees. (1) No 
search fee will be charged for requests 
by educational institutions, non-
commercial scientific institutions, or 
representatives of the news media. 

(2) No search fee or review fee will be 
charged for a quarter-hour period un-
less more than half of that period is re-
quired for search or review. 

(3) Except for requesters seeking 
records for a commercial use, OSC will 
provide without charge: 

(i) The first 100 pages of duplication 
(or the cost equivalent); and 

(ii) The first two hours of search (or 
the cost equivalent). 

(4) Whenever a total fee calculated 
under paragraph (c) of this section is 
$20.00 or less for any request, no fee 
will be charged. 

(5) The provisions of paragraphs (d)(3) 
and (d)(4) of this section work together. 
This means that for requesters other 
than those seeking records for a com-
mercial use, no fee will be charged un-
less the cost of search in excess of two 
hours plus the cost of duplication in 
excess of 100 pages totals more than 
$20.00. 

(e) Notice of anticipated fees in excess 
of $25.00. When OSC determines or esti-
mates that the fees to be charged under 
this section will amount to more than 
$25.00, OSC shall notify the requester of 
the actual or estimated amount of the 
fees, unless the requester has indicated 

a willingness to pay fees as high as 
those anticipated. If only a portion of 
the fee can be estimated readily, OSC 
will advise the requester that the esti-
mated fee may be only a portion of the 
total fee. In cases in which a requester 
has been notified that actual or esti-
mated fees amount to more than $25.00, 
the request shall not be considered re-
ceived and further work will not be 
done on it until the requester agrees to 
pay the anticipated total fee. A notice 
under this paragraph will offer the re-
quester an opportunity to discuss the 
matter with OSC in order to reformu-
late the request to meet the requester’s 
needs at a lower cost. 

(f) Charges for other services. Apart 
from the other provisions of this sec-
tion, when OSC chooses as a matter of 
administrative discretion to provide a 
special service-such as sending records 
by other than ordinary mail-the direct 
costs of providing the service ordi-
narily will be charged. 

(g) Charging interest. OSC may charge 
interest on any unpaid fee starting on 
the 31st day after the date of on which 
the billing was sent to the requester. 
Interest charges will be assessed at the 
rate provided in 31 U.S.C. 3717 and will 
accrue from the date of billing until 
payment is received by OSC. OSC will 
follow the provisions of the Debt Col-
lection Act of 1982 (Public Law 97–365, 
96 Stat. 1749), as amended by the Debt 
Collection Act of 1996 (Public Law 104– 
134, 110 Stat. 1321–358), and its adminis-
trative procedures, including the use of 
consumer reporting agencies, collec-
tion agencies, and offset. 

(h) Aggregating requests. Where OSC 
reasonably believes that a requester or 
a group of requesters acting together is 
attempting to divide a request into a 
series of requests that otherwise could 
have been submitted as a single re-
quest, for the purpose of avoiding fees, 
OSC may aggregate those requests and 
charge accordingly. OSC may presume 
that multiple requests of this type 
made within a 30–day period have been 
made in order to avoid fees. Where re-
quests are separated by a longer period, 
OSC will aggregate them only where a 
reasonable basis exists for determining 
that aggregation is warranted under all 
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of the circumstances involved. Mul-
tiple requests involving unrelated mat-
ters will not be aggregated. 

(i) Advance payments. (1) For requests 
other than those described in para-
graphs (i)(2) and (i)(3) of this section, 
OSC will not require the requester to 
make an advance payment before work 
is begun or continued on a request. 
Payment owed for work already com-
pleted (that is, pre-payment after proc-
essing a request but before copies are 
sent to the requester) is not an advance 
payment. 

(2) Where OSC determines or esti-
mates that a total fee to be charged 
under this section will be more than 
$250.00, it may require the requester to 
make an advance payment of an 
amount up to the amount of the entire 
anticipated fee before beginning to 
process the request, except where it re-
ceives a satisfactory assurance of full 
payment from a requester who has a 
history of prompt payment. 

(3) Where a requester has previously 
failed to pay a properly charged FOIA 
fee to any agency within 30 days of the 
date of billing, OSC may require the re-
quester to pay the full amount due, 
plus any applicable interest, and to 
make an advance payment of the full 
amount of any anticipated fee, before 
OSC begins to process a new request or 
continues to process a pending request 
from that requester. 

(4) In cases in which OSC requires ad-
vance payment or payment due under 
paragraph (i)(2) or (3) of this section, 
the request shall not be considered re-
ceived and further work will not be 
done on the request until the required 
payment is received. 

(j) Other statutes specifically providing 
for fees. The fee schedule of this section 
does not apply to fees charged under 
any statute that specifically requires 
an agency to set and collect fees for 
particular types of records. Where 
records responsive to requests are 
maintained for distribution by agencies 
operating such statutorily based fee 
schedule programs, OSC will provide 
contact information for use by request-
ers in obtaining records from those 
sources. 

(k) Requirements for waiver or reduc-
tion of fees. (1) Records responsive to a 
request shall be furnished without 

charge or at a charge reduced below 
that established under paragraph (c) of 
this section where OSC determines, 
based on all available information, 
that the requester has demonstrated 
that: 

(i) Disclosure of the requested infor-
mation is in the public interest because 
it is likely to contribute significantly 
to public understanding of the oper-
ations or activities of the government, 
and 

(ii) Disclosure of the information is 
not primarily in the commercial inter-
est of the requester. 

(2) To determine whether the first fee 
waiver requirement is met, OSC will 
consider the following factors: 

(i) The subject of the request: Wheth-
er the subject of the requested records 
concerns ‘‘the operations or activities 
of the government.’’ The subject of the 
requested records must concern identi-
fiable operations or activities of the 
federal government, with a connection 
that is direct and clear, not remote or 
attenuated. 

(ii) The informative value of the in-
formation to be disclosed: Whether the 
disclosure is ‘‘likely to contribute’’’ to 
an understanding of government oper-
ations or activities. The disclosable 
portions of the requested records must 
be meaningfully informative about 
government operations or activities in 
order to be ‘‘likely to contribute’’to an 
increased public understanding of those 
operations or activities. The disclosure 
of information that already is in the 
public domain, in either a duplicative 
or a substantially identical form, 
would not be as likely to contribute to 
such understanding where nothing new 
would be added to the public’s under-
standing. 

(iii) The contribution to an under-
standing of the subject by the public 
likely to result from disclosure: 
Whether disclosure of the requested in-
formation will contribute to ‘‘public 
understanding.’’ The disclosure must 
contribute to the understanding of a 
reasonably broad audience of persons 
interested in the subject, as opposed to 
the individual understanding of the re-
quester. A requester’s expertise in the 
subject area and ability and intention 
to effectively convey information to 
the public shall be considered. It shall 
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be presumed that a representative of 
the news media satisfies this consider-
ation. 

(iv) The significance of the contribu-
tion to public understanding: Whether 
the disclosure is likely to contribute 
‘‘significantly’’ to public under-
standing of government operations or 
activities. The public’s understanding 
of the subject in question, as compared 
to the level of public understanding ex-
isting prior to the disclosure, must be 
enhanced by the disclosure to a signifi-
cant extent. OSC shall not make value 
judgments about whether information 
that would contribute significantly to 
public understanding of the operations 
or activities of the government is ‘‘im-
portant’’ enough to be made public. 

(3) To determine whether the second 
fee waiver requirement is met, OSC 
will consider the following factors: 

(i) The existence and magnitude of a 
commercial interest: Whether the re-
quester has a commercial interest that 
would be furthered by the requested 
disclosure. OSC shall consider any 
commercial interest of the requester 
(with reference to the definition of 
‘‘commercial use’’ in paragraph (b)(1) 
of this section), or of any person on 
whose behalf the requester may be act-
ing, that would be furthered by the re-
quested disclosure. Requesters shall be 
given an opportunity to provide ex-
planatory information about this con-
sideration. 

(ii) The primary interest in disclo-
sure: Whether any identified commer-
cial interest of the requester is suffi-
ciently large, in comparison with the 
public interest in disclosure, that dis-
closure is ‘‘primarily in the commer-
cial interest of the requester.’’ A fee 
waiver or reduction is justified where 
the public interest standard is satisfied 
and that public interest is greater in 
magnitude than that of any identified 
commercial interest in disclosure. OSC 
ordinarily shall presume that where a 
news media requester has satisfied the 
public interest standard, the public in-
terest will be the interest primarily 
served by disclosure to that requester. 
Disclosure to data brokers or others 
who merely compile and market gov-
ernment information for direct eco-
nomic return shall not be presumed to 
primarily serve the public interest. 

(4) Where only some of the records to 
be released satisfy the requirements for 
a waiver of fees, a waiver shall be 
granted for those records. 

(5) Requests for the waiver or reduc-
tion of fees should address the factors 
listed in paragraphs (k)(2) and (3) of 
this section, insofar as they apply to 
each request. OSC will exercise its dis-
cretion to consider the cost-effective-
ness of its investment of administra-
tive resources in this decision making 
process, however, in deciding to grant 
waivers or reductions of fees. 

§ 1820.8 Business information. 

(a) In general. Business information 
obtained by OSC from a submitter will 
be disclosed under the FOIA only under 
this section. 

(b) Definitions. For purposes of this 
section: 

(1) ‘‘Business information’’ means 
commercial or financial information 
obtained by OSC from a submitter that 
may be protected from disclosure under 
exemption 4 of the FOIA. 

(2) ‘‘Submitter’’ means any person or 
entity from whom the OSC obtains 
business information, directly or indi-
rectly. The term includes corporations, 
and state, local, tribal and foreign gov-
ernments. 

(c) Designation of business information. 
A submitter of business information 
will use good-faith efforts to designate, 
by appropriate markings, either at the 
time of submission or at a reasonable 
time thereafter, any portion of its sub-
mission that it considers to be pro-
tected from disclosure under exemp-
tion 4. These designations will expire 10 
years after the date of the submission 
unless the submitter requests, and pro-
vides justification for, a longer des-
ignation period. 

(d) Notice to submitters. OSC shall pro-
vide a submitter with prompt written 
notice of a FOIA request or administra-
tive appeal that seeks its business in-
formation wherever required under 
paragraph (e) of this section, except as 
provided in paragraph (h) of this sec-
tion, in order to give the submitter an 
opportunity to object to disclosure of 
any specified portion of that informa-
tion under paragraph (f) of this section. 
The notice shall either describe the 
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business information requested or in-
clude copies of the requested records or 
record portions containing the infor-
mation. When notification of a volumi-
nous number of submitters is required, 
notification may be made by posting or 
publishing the notice in a place reason-
ably likely to accomplish it. 

(e) When notice is required. Notice 
shall be given to a submitter wherever: 

(1) The information has been des-
ignated in good faith by the submitter 
as information considered protected 
from disclosure under exemption 4; or 

(2) OSC has reason to believe that the 
information may be protected from dis-
closure under exemption 4. 

(f) Opportunity to object to disclosure. 
OSC will allow a submitter a reason-
able time to respond to the notice de-
scribed in paragraph (d) of this section 
and will specify that time period with-
in the notice. If a submitter has any 
objection to disclosure, it is required to 
submit a detailed written statement. 
The statement must specify all 
grounds for withholding any portion of 
the information under any exemption 
of the FOIA and, in the case of exemp-
tion 4, it must show why the informa-
tion is a trade secret or commercial or 
financial information that is privileged 
or confidential. If a submitter fails to 
respond to the notice within the time 
specified in it, the submitter will be 
considered to have no objection to dis-
closure of the information. Information 
provided by the submitter that is not 
received by OSC until after its disclo-
sure decision has been made shall not 
be considered by OSC. Information pro-
vided by a submitter under this para-
graph may itself be subject to disclo-
sure under the FOIA. 

(g) Notice of intent to disclose. OSC 
shall consider a submitter’s objections 
and specific grounds for nondisclosure 
in deciding whether to disclose busi-
ness information. Whenever OSC de-
cides to disclose business information 
over the objection of a submitter, OSC 
shall give the submitter written notice, 
which shall include: 

(1) A statement of the reason(s) why 
each of the submitter’s disclosure ob-
jections was not sustained; 

(2) A description of the business in-
formation to be disclosed; and 

(3) A specified disclosure date, which 
shall be a reasonable time subsequent 
to the notice. 

(h) Exceptions to notice requirements. 
The notice requirements of paragraphs 
(d) and (g) of this section shall not 
apply if: 

(1) OSC determines that the informa-
tion should not be disclosed; 

(2) The information lawfully has been 
published or has been officially made 
available to the public; 

(3) Disclosure of the information is 
required by statute (other than the 
FOIA) or by a regulation issued in ac-
cordance with the requirements of Ex-
ecutive Order 12600; or 

(4) The designation made by the sub-
mitter under paragraph (c) of this sec-
tion appears obviously frivolous - ex-
cept that, in such a case, OSC shall, 
within a reasonable time prior to a 
specified disclosure date, give the sub-
mitter written notice of any final deci-
sion to disclose the information. 

(i) Notice of FOIA lawsuit. Whenever a 
requester files a lawsuit seeking to 
compel the disclosure of business infor-
mation, OSC shall promptly notify the 
submitter. 

(j) Corresponding notice to requesters. 
Whenever OSC provides a submitter 
with notice and an opportunity to ob-
ject to disclosure under paragraph (d) 
of this section, OSC shall also notify 
the requester(s). Whenever OSC noti-
fies a submitter of its intent to disclose 
requested information under paragraph 
(g) of this section, OSC shall also no-
tify the requester(s). Whenever a sub-
mitter files a lawsuit seeking to pre-
vent the disclosure of business infor-
mation, OSC shall notify the re-
quester(s). 

§ 1820.9 Other rights and services. 
Nothing in this part shall be con-

strued to entitle any person, as of 
right, to any service or to the disclo-
sure of any record to which such person 
is not entitled under the FOIA. 

§ 1820.10 Production of official records 
or testimony in legal proceedings. 

No employee or former employee of 
the Office of Special Counsel shall, in 
response to a demand of a court or 
other authority, produce or disclose 
any information or records acquired as 
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part of the performance of his official 
duties or because of his official status 
without the prior approval of the Spe-
cial Counsel or the Special Counsel’s 
duly authorized designee. 

PART 1830—PRIVACY 

Sec. 
1830.1 General provisions. 
1830.2 Requirements for making Privacy 

Act requests. 
1830.3 Medical records. 
1830.4 Requirements for requesting amend-

ment of records. 
1830.5 Appeals. 
1830.6 Exemptions. 
1830.7 Fees. 
1830.8 Other rights and services. 

AUTHORITY: 5 U.S.C. 552a(f), 1212(e). 

SOURCE: 72 FR 56617, Oct. 4, 2007, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 1830.1 General provisions. 
This part contains rules and proce-

dures followed by the Office of Special 
Counsel (OSC) in processing requests 
for records under the Privacy Act (PA), 
at 5 U.S.C. 552a. Further information 
about access to OSC records generally 
is available on the agency’s web site 
(http://www.osc.gov/foia.htm). 

§ 1830.2 Requirements for making Pri-
vacy Act requests. 

(a) How made and addressed. A request 
for OSC records under the Privacy Act 
should be made by writing to the agen-
cy. The request should be sent by reg-
ular mail addressed to: Privacy Act Of-
ficer, U.S. Office of Special Counsel, 
1730 M Street, N.W. (Suite 218), Wash-
ington, DC 20036–4505. Such requests 
may also be faxed to the Privacy Act 
Officer at the number provided on the 
FOIA/PA page of OSC’s web site (see 
1830.1). For the quickest handling, both 
the request letter and envelope or any 
fax cover sheet should be clearly 
marked ‘‘Privacy Act Request.’’ A Pri-
vacy Act request may also be delivered 
in person at OSC’s headquarters office 
in Washington, DC. Whether sent by 
mail or by fax, or delivered in person, 
a Privacy Act request will not be con-
sidered to have been received by OSC 
until it reaches the Privacy Act Offi-
cer. 

(b) Description of records sought. Re-
questers must describe the records 

sought in enough detail for them to be 
located with a reasonable amount of ef-
fort. Whenever possible, requests 
should describe any particular record 
sought, such as the date, title or name, 
author, recipient, and subject matter. 

(c) Proof of identity. Requests received 
by mail, fax, or personal delivery 
should contain sufficient information 
to enable OSC to determine that the 
requester and the subject of the record 
are one and the same. To assist in this 
process, an individual should submit 
his or her name and home address, 
business title and address, and any 
other known identifying information 
such as an agency file number or iden-
tification number, a description of the 
circumstances under which the records 
were compiled, and any other informa-
tion deemed necessary by OSC to prop-
erly process the request. An individual 
delivering a request in person may be 
required to present proof of identity, 
preferably a government-issued docu-
ment bearing the individual’s photo-
graph. 

(d) Freedom of Information Act proc-
essing. OSC also processes all Privacy 
Act requests for access to records 
under the Freedom of Information Act, 
5 U.S.C. 552, following the rules con-
tained in part 1820 of this chapter, 
which gives requesters the benefit of 
both statutes. 

§ 1830.3 Medical records. 
When a request for access involves 

medical records that are not otherwise 
exempt from disclosure, the requesting 
individual may be advised, if it is 
deemed necessary by OSC, that the 
records will be provided only to a phy-
sician designated in writing by the in-
dividual. Upon receipt of the designa-
tion, the physician will be permitted to 
review the records or to receive copies 
by mail upon proper verification of 
identity. 

§ 1830.4 Requirements for requesting 
amendment of records. 

(a) How made and addressed. Individ-
uals may request amendment of 
records pertaining to them that are 
subject to amendment under the Pri-
vacy Act and this part. The request 
should be sent by regular mail ad-
dressed to: Privacy Act Officer, U.S. 
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Office of Special Counsel, 1730 M 
Street, N.W. (Suite 218), Washington, 
DC 20036–4505. Such requests may also 
be faxed to the Privacy Act Officer at 
the number provided on the FOIA/PA 
page of OSC’s web site (see 1830.1). For 
the quickest handling, both the request 
letter and envelope or any fax cover 
sheet should be clearly marked ‘‘Pri-
vacy Act Amendment Request.’’ 
Whether sent by mail or by fax, a Pri-
vacy Act amendment request will not 
be considered to have been received by 
OSC until it reaches the Privacy Act 
Officer. A Privacy Act amendment re-
quest may also be delivered by person 
at OSC’s headquarters office in Wash-
ington, DC. 

(b) Description of amendment sought. 
Requests for amendment should in-
clude identification of records together 
with a statement of the basis for the 
requested amendment and all available 
supporting documents and materials. 
Requesters must describe the amend-
ment sought in enough detail for the 
request to be evaluated. 

(c) Proof of identity. Rules and proce-
dures set forth in 1830.2(c) apply to re-
quests made under this section. 

(d) Acknowledgement and response. Re-
quests for amendment shall be ac-
knowledged by OSC not later than 10 
days (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, 
and legal holidays) after receipt by the 
Privacy Act Officer and a determina-
tion on the request shall be made 
promptly. 

§ 1830.5 Appeals. 
(a) Appeals of adverse determinations. 

A requester may appeal a denial of a 
Privacy Act request for access to or 
amendment of records to the Legal 
Counsel and Policy Division, U.S. Of-
fice of Special Counsel, 1730 M Street, 
N.W. (Suite 218), Washington, DC 20036– 
4505. The appeal must be in writing, 
and sent by regular mail or by fax. The 
appeal must be received by the Legal 
Counsel and Policy Division within 45 
days of the date of the letter denying 
the request. For the quickest possible 
handling, the appeal letter and enve-
lope or any fax cover sheet should be 
clearly marked ‘‘Privacy Act Appeal.’’ 
An appeal will not be considered to 
have been received by OSC until it 
reaches the Legal Counsel and Policy 

Division. The appeal letter may in-
clude as much or as little related infor-
mation as the requester wishes, as long 
as it clearly identifies the OSC deter-
mination (including the assigned re-
quest number, if known) being ap-
pealed. An appeal ordinarily will not be 
acted on if the request becomes a mat-
ter of litigation. 

(b) Responses to appeals. The agency 
decision on an appeal will be made in 
writing. A final determination will be 
issued within 30 days (excluding Satur-
days, Sundays, and legal holidays), un-
less, for good cause shown, OSC ex-
tends the 30–day period. 

§ 1830.6 Exemptions. 
OSC will claim exemptions from the 

provisions of the Privacy Act at sub-
sections (c)(3) and (d) as permitted by 
subsection (k) for records subject to 
the act that fall within the category of 
investigatory material described in 
paragraphs (2) and (5) and testing or ex-
amination material described in para-
graph (6) of that subsection. The ex-
emptions for investigatory material 
are necessary to prevent frustration of 
inquiries into allegations in prohibited 
personnel practice, unlawful political 
activity, whistleblower disclosure, Uni-
formed Services Employment and Re-
employment Rights Act, and other 
matters under OSC’s jurisdiction, and 
to protect identities of confidential 
sources of information, including in 
background investigations of OSC em-
ployees, contractors, and other individ-
uals conducted by or for OSC. The ex-
emption for testing or examination 
material is necessary to prevent the 
disclosure of information which would 
potentially give an individual an unfair 
competitive advantage or diminish the 
utility of established examination pro-
cedures. OSC also reserves the right to 
assert exemptions for records received 
from another agency that could be 
properly claimed by that agency in re-
sponding to a request. OSC may also 
refuse access to any information com-
piled in reasonable anticipation of a 
civil action or proceeding. 

§ 1830.7 Fees. 
Requests for copies of records shall 

be subject to duplication fees set forth 
in part 1820 of this chapter. 
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§ 1830.8 Other rights and services. 
Nothing in this part shall be con-

strued to entitle any person, as of 
right, to any service or to the disclo-
sure of any record to which such person 
is not entitled under the Privacy Act. 

PART 1840—SUBPOENAS 

AUTHORITY: 5 U.S.C. 1212(e). 

§ 1840.1 Service of subpoenas by mail. 
In addition to all other methods of 

authorized service, an Office of Special 
Counsel subpoena may be served by 
mailing a copy to the person at his or 
her residence or place of business by 
certified or registered mail. 

[54 FR 47345, Nov. 14, 1989] 

PART 1850—ENFORCEMENT OF 
NONDISCRIMINATION ON THE 
BASIS OF HANDICAP IN PRO-
GRAMS OR ACTIVITIES CON-
DUCTED BY THE OFFICE OF SPE-
CIAL COUNSEL 

Sec. 
1850.101 Purpose. 
1850.102 Application. 
1850.103 Definitions. 
1850.104–1850.109 [Reserved] 
1850.110 Self-evaluation. 
1850.111 Notice. 
1850.112–1850.129 [Reserved] 
1850.130 General prohibitions against dis-

crimination. 
1850.131–1850.139 [Reserved] 
1850.140 Employment. 
1850.141–1850.148 [Reserved] 
1850.149 Program accessibility: Discrimina-

tion prohibited. 
1850.150 Program accessibility: Existing fa-

cilities. 
1850.151 Program accessibility: New con-

struction and alterations. 
1850.152–1850.159 [Reserved] 
1850.160 Communications. 
1850.161–1850.169 [Reserved] 
1850.170 Compliance procedures. 
1850.171–1850.999 [Reserved] 

AUTHORITY: 29 U.S.C. 794. 

SOURCE: 53 FR 25881, 25885, July 8, 1988, un-
less otherwise noted. Redesignated at 54 FR 
47345, Nov. 14, 1989. 

§ 1850.101 Purpose. 
The purpose of this regulation is to 

effectuate section 119 of the Rehabili-

tation, Comprehensive Services, and 
Developmental Disabilities Amend-
ments of 1978, which amended section 
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 to 
prohibit discrimination on the basis of 
handicap in programs or activities con-
ducted by Executive agencies or the 
United States Postal Service. 

§ 1850.102 Application. 
This regulation (§§ 1850.101–1850.170) 

applies to all programs or activities 
conducted by the agency, except for 
programs or activities conducted out-
side the United States that do not in-
volve individuals with handicaps in the 
United States. 

§ 1850.103 Definitions. 
For purposes of this regulation, the 

term— 
Assistant Attorney General means the 

Assistant Attorney General, Civil 
Rights Division, United States Depart-
ment of Justice. 

Auxiliary aids means services or de-
vices that enable persons with im-
paired sensory, manual, or speaking 
skills to have an equal opportunity to 
participate in, and enjoy the benefits 
of, programs or activities conducted by 
the agency. For example, auxiliary aids 
useful for persons with impaired vision 
include readers, Brailled materials, 
audio recordings, and other similar 
services and devices. Auxiliary aids 
useful for persons with impaired hear-
ing include telephone handset ampli-
fiers, telephones compatible with hear-
ing aids, telecommunication devices 
for deaf persons (TDD’s), interpreters, 
notetakers, written materials, and 
other similar services and devices. 

Complete complaint means a written 
statement that contains the complain-
ant’s name and address and describes 
the agency’s alleged discriminatory ac-
tion in sufficient detail to inform the 
agency of the nature and date of the al-
leged violation of section 504. It shall 
be signed by the complainant or by 
someone authorized to do so on his or 
her behalf. Complaints filed on behalf 
of classes or third parties shall describe 
or identify (by name, if possible) the 
alleged victims of discrimination. 

Facility means all or any portion of 
buildings, structures, equipment, 
roads, walks, parking lots, rolling 
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stock or other conveyances, or other 
real or personal property. 

Historic preservation programs means 
programs conducted by the agency that 
have preservation of historic properties 
as a primary purpose. 

Historic properties means those prop-
erties that are listed or eligible for 
listing in the National Register of His-
toric Places or properties designated as 
historic under a statute of the appro-
priate State or local government body. 

Individual with handicaps means any 
person who has a physical or mental 
impairment that substantially limits 
one or more major life activities, has a 
record of such an impairment, or is re-
garded as having such an impairment. 

As used in this definition, the phrase: 
(1) Physical or mental impairment in-

cludes— 
(i) Any physiological disorder or con-

dition, cosmetic disfigurement, or ana-
tomical loss affecting one or more of 
the following body systems: Neuro-
logical; musculoskeletal; special sense 
organs; respiratory, including speech 
organs; cardiovascular; reproductive; 
digestive; genitourinary; hemic and 
lymphatic; skin; and endocrine; or 

(ii) Any mental or psychological dis-
order, such as mental retardation, or-
ganic brain syndrome, emotional or 
mental illness, and specific learning 
disabilities. The term physical or mental 
impairment includes, but is not limited 
to, such diseases and conditions as or-
thopedic, visual, speech, and hearing 
impairments, cerebral palsy, epilepsy, 
muscular dystrophy, multiple sclerosis, 
cancer, heart disease, diabetes, mental 
retardation, emotional illness, and 
drug addiction and alcoholism. 

(2) Major life activities includes func-
tions such as caring for one’s self, per-
forming manual tasks, walking, seeing, 
hearing, speaking, breathing, learning, 
and working. 

(3) Has a record of such an impairment 
means has a history of, or has been 
misclassified as having, a mental or 
physical impairment that substantially 
limits one or more major life activi-
ties. 

(4) Is regarded as having an impairment 
means— 

(i) Has a physical or mental impair-
ment that does not substantially limit 
major life activities but is treated by 

the agency as constituting such a limi-
tation; 

(ii) Has a physical or mental impair-
ment that substantially limits major 
life activities only as a result of the at-
titudes of others toward such impair-
ment; or 

(iii) Has none of the impairments de-
fined in paragraph (1) of this definition 
but is treated by the agency as having 
such an impairment. 

Qualified individual with handicaps 
means— 

(1) With respect to preschool, elemen-
tary, or secondary education services 
provided by the agency, an individual 
with handicaps who is a member of a 
class of persons otherwise entitled by 
statute, regulation, or agency policy to 
receive education services from the 
agency; 

(2) With respect to any other agency 
program or activity under which a per-
son is required to perform services or 
to achieve a level of accomplishment, 
an individual with handicaps who 
meets the essential eligibility require-
ments and who can achieve the purpose 
of the program or activity without 
modifications in the program or activ-
ity that the agency can demonstrate 
would result in a fundamental alter-
ation in its nature; 

(3) With respect to any other pro-
gram or activity, an individual with 
handicaps who meets the essential eli-
gibility requirements for participation 
in, or receipt of benefits from, that pro-
gram or activity; and 

(4) Qualified handicapped person as 
that term is defined for purposes of em-
ployment in 29 CFR 1613.702(f), which is 
made applicable to this regulation by 
§ 1850.140. 

Section 504 means section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Pub. L. 93– 
112, 87 Stat. 394 (29 U.S.C. 794)), as 
amended by the Rehabilitation Act 
Amendments of 1974 (Pub. L. 93–516, 88 
Stat. 1617); the Rehabilitation, Com-
prehensive Services, and Develop-
mental Disabilities Amendments of 
1978 (Pub. L. 95–602, 92 Stat. 2955); and 
the Rehabilitation Act Amendments of 
1986 (Pub. L. 99–506, 100 Stat. 1810). As 
used in this regulation, section 504 ap-
plies only to programs or activities 
conducted by Executive agencies and 
not to federally assisted programs. 
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Substantial impairment means a sig-
nificant loss of the integrity of finished 
materials, design quality, or special 
character resulting from a permanent 
alteration. 

§§ 1850.104–1850.109 [Reserved] 

§ 1850.110 Self-evaluation. 

(a) The agency shall, by September 6, 
1989, evaluate its current policies and 
practices, and the effects thereof, that 
do not or may not meet the require-
ments of this regulation and, to the ex-
tent modification of any such policies 
and practices is required, the agency 
shall proceed to make the necessary 
modifications. 

(b) The agency shall provide an op-
portunity to interested persons, includ-
ing individuals with handicaps or orga-
nizations representing individuals with 
handicaps, to participate in the self- 
evaluation process by submitting com-
ments (both oral and written). 

(c) The agency shall, for at least 
three years following completion of the 
self-evaluation, maintain on file and 
make available for public inspection: 

(1) A description of areas examined 
and any problems identified; and 

(2) A description of any modifications 
made. 

§ 1850.111 Notice. 

The agency shall make available to 
employees, applicants, participants, 
beneficiaries, and other interested per-
sons such information regarding the 
provisions of this regulation and its ap-
plicability to the programs or activi-
ties conducted by the agency, and 
make such information available to 
them in such manner as the head of the 
agency finds necessary to apprise such 
persons of the protections against dis-
crimination assured them by section 
504 and this regulation. 

§§ 1850.112–1850.129 [Reserved] 

§ 1850.130 General prohibitions 
against discrimination. 

(a) No qualified individual with 
handicaps shall, on the basis of handi-
cap, be excluded from participation in, 
be denied the benefits of, or otherwise 
be subjected to discrimination under 

any program or activity conducted by 
the agency. 

(b)(1) The agency, in providing any 
aid, benefit, or service, may not, di-
rectly or through contractual, licens-
ing, or other arrangements, on the 
basis of handicap— 

(i) Deny a qualified individual with 
handicaps the opportunity to partici-
pate in or benefit from the aid, benefit, 
or service; 

(ii) Afford a qualified individual with 
handicaps an opportunity to partici-
pate in or benefit from the aid, benefit, 
or service that is not equal to that af-
forded others; 

(iii) Provide a qualified individual 
with handicaps with an aid, benefit, or 
service that is not as effective in af-
fording equal opportunity to obtain the 
same result, to gain the same benefit, 
or to reach the same level of achieve-
ment as that provided to others; 

(iv) Provide different or separate aid, 
benefits, or services to individuals with 
handicaps or to any class of individuals 
with handicaps than is provided to oth-
ers unless such action is necessary to 
provide qualified individuals with 
handicaps with aid, benefits, or serv-
ices that are as effective as those pro-
vided to others; 

(v) Deny a qualified individual with 
handicaps the opportunity to partici-
pate as a member of planning or advi-
sory boards; 

(vi) Otherwise limit a qualified indi-
vidual with handicaps in the enjoy-
ment of any right, privilege, advan-
tage, or opportunity enjoyed by others 
receiving the aid, benefit, or service. 

(2) The agency may not deny a quali-
fied individual with handicaps the op-
portunity to participate in programs or 
activities that are not separate or dif-
ferent, despite the existence of permis-
sibly separate or different programs or 
activities. 

(3) The agency may not, directly or 
through contractual or other arrange-
ments, utilize criteria or methods of 
administration the purpose or effect of 
which would— 

(i) Subject qualified individuals with 
handicaps to discrimination on the 
basis of handicap; or 

(ii) Defeat or substantially impair ac-
complishment of the objectives of a 
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program or activity with respect to in-
dividuals with handicaps. 

(4) The agency may not, in deter-
mining the site or location of a facil-
ity, make selections the purpose or ef-
fect of which would— 

(i) Exclude individuals with handi-
caps from, deny them the benefits of, 
or otherwise subject them to discrimi-
nation under any program or activity 
conducted by the agency; or 

(ii) Defeat or substantially impair 
the accomplishment of the objectives 
of a program or activity with respect 
to individuals with handicaps. 

(5) The agency, in the selection of 
procurement contractors, may not use 
criteria that subject qualified individ-
uals with handicaps to discrimination 
on the basis of handicap. 

(6) The agency may not administer a 
licensing or certification program in a 
manner that subjects qualified individ-
uals with handicaps to discrimination 
on the basis of handicap, nor may the 
agency establish requirements for the 
programs or activities of licensees or 
certified entities that subject qualified 
individuals with handicaps to discrimi-
nation on the basis of handicap. How-
ever, the programs or activities of enti-
ties that are licensed or certified by 
the agency are not, themselves, cov-
ered by this regulation. 

(c) The exclusion of nonhandicapped 
persons from the benefits of a program 
limited by Federal statute or Execu-
tive order to individuals with handi-
caps or the exclusion of a specific class 
of individuals with handicaps from a 
program limited by Federal statute or 
Executive order to a different class of 
individuals with handicaps is not pro-
hibited by this regulation. 

(d) The agency shall administer pro-
grams and activities in the most inte-
grated setting appropriate to the needs 
of qualified individuals with handicaps. 

§§ 1850.131–1850.139 [Reserved] 

§ 1850.140 Employment. 
No qualified individual with handi-

caps shall, on the basis of handicap, be 
subject to discrimination in employ-
ment under any program or activity 
conducted by the agency. The defini-
tions, requirements, and procedures of 
section 501 of the Rehabilitation Act of 

1973 (29 U.S.C. 791), as established by 
the Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission in 29 CFR part 1613, shall 
apply to employment in federally con-
ducted programs or activities. 

§§ 1850.141–1850.148 [Reserved] 

§ 1850.149 Program accessibility: Dis-
crimination prohibited. 

Except as otherwise provided in 
§ 1850.150, no qualified individual with 
handicaps shall, because the agency’s 
facilities are inaccessible to or unus-
able by individuals with handicaps, be 
denied the benefits of, be excluded from 
participation in, or otherwise be sub-
jected to discrimination under any pro-
gram or activity conducted by the 
agency. 

§ 1850.150 Program accessibility: Exist-
ing facilities. 

(a) General. The agency shall operate 
each program or activity so that the 
program or activity, when viewed in its 
entirety, is readily accessible to and 
usable by individuals with handicaps. 
This paragraph does not— 

(1) Necessarily require the agency to 
make each of its existing facilities ac-
cessible to and usable by individuals 
with handicaps; 

(2) In the case of historic preserva-
tion programs, require the agency to 
take any action that would result in a 
substantial impairment of significant 
historic features of an historic prop-
erty; or 

(3) Require the agency to take any 
action that it can demonstrate would 
result in a fundamental alteration in 
the nature of a program or activity or 
in undue financial and administrative 
burdens. In those circumstances where 
agency personnel believe that the pro-
posed action would fundamentally 
alter the program or activity or would 
result in undue financial and adminis-
trative burdens, the agency has the 
burden of proving that compliance with 
§ 1850.150(a) would result in such alter-
ation or burdens. The decision that 
compliance would result in such alter-
ation or burdens must be made by the 
agency head or his or her designee 
after considering all agency resources 
available for use in the funding and op-
eration of the conducted program or 
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activity, and must be accompanied by 
a written statement of the reasons for 
reaching that conclusion. If an action 
would result in such an alteration or 
such burdens, the agency shall take 
any other action that would not result 
in such an alteration or such burdens 
but would nevertheless ensure that in-
dividuals with handicaps receive the 
benefits and services of the program or 
activity. 

(b) Methods—(1) General. The agency 
may comply with the requirements of 
this section through such means as re-
design of equipment, reassignment of 
services to accessible buildings, assign-
ment of aides to beneficiaries, home 
visits, delivery of services at alternate 
accessible sites, alteration of existing 
facilities and construction of new fa-
cilities, use of accessible rolling stock, 
or any other methods that result in 
making its programs or activities read-
ily accessible to and usable by individ-
uals with handicaps. The agency is not 
required to make structural changes in 
existing facilities where other methods 
are effective in achieving compliance 
with this section. The agency, in mak-
ing alterations to existing buildings, 
shall meet accessibility requirements 
to the extent compelled by the Archi-
tectural Barriers Act of 1968, as amend-
ed (42 U.S.C. 4151–4157), and any regula-
tions implementing it. In choosing 
among available methods for meeting 
the requirements of this section, the 
agency shall give priority to those 
methods that offer programs and ac-
tivities to qualified individuals with 
handicaps in the most integrated set-
ting appropriate. 

(2) Historic preservation programs. In 
meeting the requirements of 
§ 1850.150(a) in historic preservation 
programs, the agency shall give pri-
ority to methods that provide physical 
access to individuals with handicaps. 
In cases where a physical alteration to 
an historic property is not required be-
cause of § 1850.150(a) (2) or (3), alter-
native methods of achieving program 
accessibility include— 

(i) Using audio-visual materials and 
devices to depict those portions of an 
historic property that cannot other-
wise be made accessible; 

(ii) Assigning persons to guide indi-
viduals with handicaps into or through 

portions of historic properties that 
cannot otherwise be made accessible; 
or 

(iii) Adopting other innovative meth-
ods. 

(c) Time period for compliance. The 
agency shall comply with the obliga-
tions established under this section by 
November 7, 1988, except that where 
structural changes in facilities are un-
dertaken, such changes shall be made 
by September 6, 1991, but in any event 
as expeditiously as possible. 

(d) Transition plan. In the event that 
structural changes to facilities will be 
undertaken to achieve program acces-
sibility, the agency shall develop, by 
March 6, 1989, a transition plan setting 
forth the steps necessary to complete 
such changes. The agency shall provide 
an opportunity to interested persons, 
including individuals with handicaps or 
organizations representing individuals 
with handicaps, to participate in the 
development of the transition plan by 
submitting comments (both oral and 
written). A copy of the transition plan 
shall be made available for public in-
spection. The plan shall, at a min-
imum— 

(1) Identify physical obstacles in the 
agency’s facilities that limit the acces-
sibility of its programs or activities to 
individuals with handicaps; 

(2) Describe in detail the methods 
that will be used to make the facilities 
accessible; 

(3) Specify the schedule for taking 
the steps necessary to achieve compli-
ance with this section and, if the time 
period of the transition plan is longer 
than one year, identify steps that will 
be taken during each year of the tran-
sition period; and 

(4) Indicate the official responsible 
for implementation of the plan. 

§ 1850.151 Program accessibility: New 
construction and alterations. 

Each building or part of a building 
that is constructed or altered by, on 
behalf of, or for the use of the agency 
shall be designed, constructed, or al-
tered so as to be readily accessible to 
and usable by individuals with handi-
caps. The definitions, requirements, 
and standards of the Architectural Bar-
riers Act (42 U.S.C. 4151–4157), as estab-
lished in 41 CFR 101–19.600 to 101–19.607, 
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apply to buildings covered by this sec-
tion. 

§§ 1850.152–1850.159 [Reserved] 

§ 1850.160 Communications. 
(a) The agency shall take appropriate 

steps to ensure effective communica-
tion with applicants, participants, per-
sonnel of other Federal entities, and 
members of the public. 

(1) The agency shall furnish appro-
priate auxiliary aids where necessary 
to afford an individual with handicaps 
an equal opportunity to participate in, 
and enjoy the benefits of, a program or 
activity conducted by the agency. 

(i) In determining what type of auxil-
iary aid is necessary, the agency shall 
give primary consideration to the re-
quests of the individual with handi-
caps. 

(ii) The agency need not provide indi-
vidually prescribed devices, readers for 
personal use or study, or other devices 
of a personal nature. 

(2) Where the agency communicates 
with applicants and beneficiaries by 
telephone, telecommunication devices 
for deaf persons (TDD’s) or equally ef-
fective telecommunication systems 
shall be used to communicate with per-
sons with impaired hearing. 

(b) The agency shall ensure that in-
terested persons, including persons 
with impaired vision or hearing, can 
obtain information as to the existence 
and location of accessible services, ac-
tivities, and facilities. 

(c) The agency shall provide signage 
at a primary entrance to each of its in-
accessible facilities, directing users to 
a location at which they can obtain in-
formation about accessible facilities. 
The international symbol for accessi-
bility shall be used at each primary en-
trance of an accessible facility. 

(d) This section does not require the 
agency to take any action that it can 
demonstrate would result in a funda-
mental alteration in the nature of a 
program or activity or in undue finan-
cial and administrative burdens. In 
those circumstances where agency per-
sonnel believe that the proposed action 
would fundamentally alter the program 
or activity or would result in undue fi-
nancial and administrative burdens, 
the agency has the burden of proving 

that compliance with § 1850.160 would 
result in such alteration or burdens. 
The decision that compliance would re-
sult in such alteration or burdens must 
be made by the agency head or his or 
her designee after considering all agen-
cy resources available for use in the 
funding and operation of the conducted 
program or activity and must be ac-
companied by a written statement of 
the reasons for reaching that conclu-
sion. If an action required to comply 
with this section would result in such 
an alteration or such burdens, the 
agency shall take any other action 
that would not result in such an alter-
ation or such burdens but would never-
theless ensure that, to the maximum 
extent possible, individuals with handi-
caps receive the benefits and services 
of the program or activity. 

§§ 1850.161–1850.169 [Reserved] 

§ 1850.170 Compliance procedures. 

(a) Except as provided in paragraph 
(b) of this section, this section applies 
to all allegations of discrimination on 
the basis of handicap in programs and 
activities conducted by the agency. 

(b) The agency shall process com-
plaints alleging violations of section 
504 with respect to employment accord-
ing to the procedures established by 
the Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission in 29 CFR part 1613 pursu-
ant to section 501 of the Rehabilitation 
Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 791). 

(c) The Managing Director for Oper-
ations shall be responsible for coordi-
nating implementation of this section. 
Complaints may be sent to the Direc-
tor for Management, Office of the Spe-
cial Counsel, 1730 M Street, NW., Suite 
201, Washington, DC 20036-4505. 

(d) The agency shall accept and in-
vestigate all complete complaints for 
which it has jurisdiction. All complete 
complaints must be filed within 180 
days of the alleged act of discrimina-
tion. The agency may extend this time 
period for good cause. 

(e) If the agency receives a complaint 
over which it does not have jurisdic-
tion, it shall promptly notify the com-
plainant and shall make reasonable ef-
forts to refer the complaint to the ap-
propriate Government entity. 
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(f) The agency shall notify the Archi-
tectural and Transportation Barriers 
Compliance Board upon receipt of any 
complaint alleging that a building or 
facility that is subject to the Architec-
tural Barriers Act of 1968, as amended 
(42 U.S.C. 4151–4157), is not readily ac-
cessible to and usable by individuals 
with handicaps. 

(g) Within 180 days of the receipt of a 
complete complaint for which it has ju-
risdiction, the agency shall notify the 
complainant of the results of the inves-
tigation in a letter containing— 

(1) Findings of fact and conclusions 
of law; 

(2) A description of a remedy for each 
violation found; and 

(3) A notice of the right to appeal. 
(h) Appeals of the findings of fact and 

conclusions of law or remedies must be 
filed by the complainant within 90 days 
of receipt from the agency of the letter 
required by § 1850.170(g). The agency 
may extend this time for good cause. 

(i) Timely appeals shall be accepted 
and processed by the head of the agen-
cy. 

(j) The head of the agency shall no-
tify the complainant of the results of 
the appeal within 60 days of the receipt 
of the request. If the head of the agen-
cy determines that additional informa-
tion is needed from the complainant, 
he or she shall have 60 days from the 
date of receipt of the additional infor-
mation to make his or her determina-
tion on the appeal. 

(k) The time limits cited in para-
graphs (g) and (j) of this section may be 
extended with the permission of the 
Assistant Attorney General. 

(l) The agency may delegate its au-
thority for conducting complaint in-
vestigations to other Federal agencies, 
except that the authority for making 
the final determination may not be 
delegated to another agency. 

[53 FR 25881 and 25885, July 8, 1988, as amend-
ed at 53 FR 25881, July 8, 1988. Redesignated 
and amended at 54 FR 47345, Nov. 14, 1989; 59 
FR 64844, Dec. 16, 1994; 65 FR 81325, Dec. 26, 
2000] 

§§ 1850.171–1850.999 [Reserved] 
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